IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2015-CP-26-8179  
Appellate Case No. 2016-002175

---

Robert DeCiero .....Appellant,

v.

Horry County, State of South Carolina.....Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Thomas C. Brittain, Esquire  
Mary Madison Brittain Langway, Esquire  
The Brittain Law Firm  
4614 Oleander Drive  
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577  
Telephone: (843) 449-8562

Attorneys for Appellant

##

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- 1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING THAT APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT WAS DEFICIENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 8(A) AND THAT, AS A RESULT OF THESE DEFICIENCIES, RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO RELIEF UNDER RULE 12(B)(6)?**
- 2. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING THAT THE HORRY COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCES CITED IN APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT DO NOT RESTRICT THE NUMBER OF OCCUPANTS ALLOWED IN THE HOMES LOCATED IN LONG BAY ESTATES?**
- 3. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING THAT APPELLANT LACKS STANDING TO BRING AN ACTION AGAINST RESPONDENT FOR ZONING VIOLATIONS WITHIN LONG BAY ESTATES BECAUSE HE DID NOT SUSTAIN AN INJURY-IN-FACT?**

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 2, 2015, counsel for Appellant, Thomas C. Brittain, sent to representatives for the Respondent, Janet Carter and County attorney Arrigo Carotti, a correspondence advising that, on behalf of certain Long Bay Estates residents, he was filing a formal complaint regarding violations of specific Horry County Codes by several homeowners within that subdivision (R. pp. 74-75). At that time, Mr. Brittain requested that the County immediately investigate the matter and enforce the provisions of the ordinances of Horry County in order to assure compliance. This was not the first time the County was made aware of these violations by Appellant. Appellant had appealed to the County on many occasions regarding these violations and had repeatedly requested that the County enforce their own ordinances, all to no avail.

By correspondence dated June 12, 2015, Ms. Carter responded that Horry County had no specific ordinance prohibiting short-term rentals in established neighborhoods (R. p. 76). She further stated that the matter had been discussed previously but that no ordinances were brought forward due to concerns such as the County's inability to police and enforce such an ordinance.

On July 13, 2015, Appellant and his counsel, Mr. Brittain, met with representatives of Respondent including Zoning Administrator Rennie Mincey to discuss the multiple property owners located within Long Bay Estates Subdivision that were violating Article IV Section 431 of the Horry County Zoning Ordinance by allowing large groups of people, many unrelated, to rent these homes on a weekly basis. Further, that these violations created a public nuisance for the residents of this subdivision including, but not limited to, traffic nightmares, late-night parties, congestion and excessive noise levels. During this meeting, Appellant and Mr. Brittain requested that Respondent enforce their zoning ordinances, as they are required to do in accordance with Article XIII Section 1300 of the Horry County Zoning Ordinance.

In follow up to this meeting, on August 17, 2015, counsel for Appellant emailed to Mr. Mincey and Mr. Carrotti, a Memorandum further outlining Appellant's position on the matter (R. pp. 78-80) and on September 17, 2015, mailed a letter to Ms. Carter and Mr. Mincey following up on the matter (R. p. 77). On September 21, 2015, Mr. Brittain received a written response to his Memorandum from Ms. Carter stating there was no ordinance in Horry County prohibiting short term rentals; however, she failed to address the Horry County Ordinance that restricts the number of persons allowed to reside in a single family home or the County's failure to enforce that Ordinance (R. p. 81).

On November 13, 2015, Appellant filed with the Horry County Court of Common Pleas (with Civil Action No. 2015-CP-26-8179) an action against Respondent for their failure to enforce the applicable zoning ordinances within Long Bay Estates (R. pp. 8-14). On December 16, 2015, Respondent filed its Answer (R. pp. 15-18).

On April 14, 2016, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) and for Summary Judgment Under Rule 56 together with a Memorandum in Support (R. pp. 48-55). Appellant filed his Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss/Motion for Summary Judgment on May 20, 2016 (R. pp. 56-59).

Respondent's Motion was heard before The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson on June 1, 2016. On June 2, 2016, Judge Culbertson provided to the parties, by correspondence, notice that he dismissed the action on Respondent's Motion to Dismiss (thereby making the Motion for Summary Judgment "moot") and requested that counsel for Respondent prepare a formal Order for his signature (R. pp. 88-89).

On June 17, 2016, counsel for Respondent, Elise Crosby, submitted to The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson two proposed orders. That same day, by emailed correspondence to Ms.

Crosby and Judge Culbertson, Mr. Brittain outlined his objections to the premise and the findings contained in the proposed orders.

On July 19, 2016, the signed Order of Dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP was filed with the court wherein Judge Culbertson found that the Complaint's deficiencies under Rule 8(a) South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (no short and plain statement of the grounds or facts showing Appellant entitled to relief, no causes of action and no prayer for relief) entitled Respondent to relief under Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedures (R. pp. 3-5). He further concluded that the zoning ordinance in question would not prohibit heavy duty density in the area (all in violation of the legislative history of and the wording of the zoning ordinance). Additionally, the determination was made that Appellant lacked standing to bring this action as he had suffered no injury in fact, all of which was plead with great particularity as set forth in Appellant's Complaint.

On July 27, 2016, Appellant filed his Motion to Reconsider Order of Dismissal arguing Respondent's arguments were inaccurate and that there were no Rule 8(a) S.C.R.C.P. violations in Appellant's Complaint (R. pp. 62-64). Further, counsel for Appellant argued that the Motion was premature in that this case had not been fully litigated. On September 22, 2016, a Form 4 Order Denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider was filed with the court and counsel for Appellant received a copy of this Order by mail on October 14, 2016 (R. pp. 6-7). This appeal followed.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Long Bay Estates is just south of Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. It is one of the oldest residential neighborhoods east of the Intracoastal Waterway in Horry County.

This sleepy little community was designed by the Ward family and others and the great Franklin Burroughs, as attorney, set forth deed restrictions and covenants ensuring for all time a sleepy little community of residential living.

As an interesting twist to the times, duplexes were allowed under certain circumstances but the tenor of residential deed restrictions are set forth to ensure a residential experience and not a tourist driven multi-family property zone environment.

Furthermore, this subdivision has been under constant assault from those who have attempted to skirt, ignore and avoid the deed restrictions that are in place and to that end residents of Long Bay Estates succeeded in the case of John Musick v. Thomas L. Dicks and Robert E. Dicks, Jr. (Case No. 2004-CP-26-2075/Appellate Case No. 2012-212773) where the Court of Appeals determined the deed restrictions were in fact valid, they had been properly set forth and were binding on all parties associated with ownership in the subdivision.

One of the troubling issues in coastal communities, Horry County, South Carolina included, is the encroachment and abuse of zoning regulations and deed restrictions to facilitate financial gain by those who build inordinate sized dwellings within the restricted zoning area and lease to numerous families, six, seven or more at a time.

Horry County has zoning ordinances and has placed upon herself the obligation to enforce them (see Article IV Section 431 and Article XIII Section 1300 of the Horry County Zoning Ordinance and its language which is set forth in Appellant's Initial Brief) and to that end the Appellant in this action and others has sought to have Horry County enforce its Zoning Ordinances in the Long Bay residential area.

There are huge numbers of cars, heavy traffic, litter problems, behavior problems, noise problems of a constant nature based on the density that is associated with the violation of the zoning regulations and the deed restrictions.

To that end, Appellant set forth in an action against Respondent seeking specific performance requiring Respondent to enforce its own zoning regulations under the law.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

As cited in *Doe v. Marion*, 645 S.E. 2d 245 (S.C. Sup. Ct.2007), in reviewing the dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court. *Williams v. Condon*, 347 S.C. 227, 553 S.E.2d 496 (Ct. App. 2001). In considering a motion to dismiss a complaint based on a failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, the trial court must base its ruling solely on allegations set forth in the complaint. *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 116, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874 (2006). If the facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is improper. *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999); *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995). "The question is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief." *Gentry v. Yonce*, 337 S.C. 1, 5, 522 S.E.2d 137, 139 (1999). The complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action. *Toussaint v. Ham*, 292 S.C. 415, 357 S.E.2d 8 (1987).

## ARGUMENT

### I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING THAT APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT WAS DEFICIENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 8(A) AND THAT, AS A RESULT OF THESE DEFICIENCIES, RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO RELIEF UNDER RULE 12(B)(6)?

A ruling on a motion to dismiss a claim must be based solely on the allegations set forth on the face of the Complaint. The motion cannot be sustained if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case. *Dye v. Gainey*, 320 S.C. 65, 463 S.E.2d 97 (Ct.App.1995). The question is whether in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every reasonable doubt resolved in his behalf, the Complaint states any valid claim for relief. The cause of action should not be struck merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action. *Id.* at 68, 463 S.E.2d at 99.

In its Motion and supporting Memorandum (R. pp. 8-14), Respondent alleges Appellant's Complaint fails "to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action" and, further, that the Complaint makes "numerous allegations but no prayer for relief". This is inaccurate.

Rule 8(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure states as follows:

A pleading which sets forth a cause of action, whether an original claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, shall contain (1) a short and plain statement of the grounds including facts and statutes upon which the court's jurisdiction depends, unless the court already has jurisdiction to support it, (2) a short and plain statement of the facts showing that the pleader is entitled to relief, and (3) a prayer or demand for judgment for the relief to which he deems himself entitled. Relief in the alternative or of several different types may be demanded.

In his Complaint Appellant, a resident of Long Bay Estates, sets forth a brief background of the subdivision in question and jurisdiction of the parties and further states that Long Bay Estates

is currently zoned as an S6 residential district and is therefore comprised of single family and duplex family dwellings (R. p. 12).

Appellant's Complaint then provides the specific Horry County Zoning Ordinance that he alleges is being violated by some of the property owners located within the subdivision (R. pp. 12-13). Article IV Section 431 of the Horry County Zoning Ordinance provides the definition for family as "an individual or two or more persons related by blood, marriage or adoption living together as a single household unit, or, a group of not more than 5 persons not related by blood, marriage, or adoption, living together as a single family household unit". The Complaint alleges that, currently in Long Bay Estates, there are homes being rented on a weekly basis to large groups of people, many unrelated, well in excess of the number of occupants allowed by the Horry County Ordinance and that these large groups bring with them to this residential subdivision excessive noise, trash and traffic.

Appellant's Complaint then makes a prayer for relief through demanding that the Respondent enforce Article IV Section 431 of the Horry County Zoning Ordinance (R. p. 14), as it is required to do in accordance with Article XIII Section 1300 of the Horry County Zoning Ordinance which states that, "The Horry County Council shall fund sufficient personnel to administer and enforce the provisions of this ordinance. If the Zoning Administrator shall find that any of the provisions of this ordinance are being violated, he shall notify in writing the person responsible for such violations, indicating the nature of the violation and ordering the action necessary to correct it. He shall order discontinuance of illegal use of land, buildings or structures; removal of illegal buildings or structures or of illegal additions, alter alterations, or structural changes, discontinuance of any illegal work being done: or shall take any other action authorized

by this ordinance to ensure compliance with or to prevent violation of its provision.” Appellant’s Complaint, as described above, clearly complies with Rule 8(a) S.C.R.C.P. (R. pp. 11-14).

Further, Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss/Motion for Summary Judgment was filed before adequate time had been allowed for discovery in this action (R. pp. 48-49). The Supreme Court of South Carolina has consistently favored discovery in cases that come before the Court and, in fact, have ruled that on motion for summary judgment if there is a scintilla of evidence to support the position of the Plaintiff the case should go forward to a jury. *Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc.*, 673 S.E. 2d 801 (S.C. 2009).

**II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING THAT THE HORRY COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCES CITED IN APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT DO NOT RESTRICT THE NUMBER OF OCCUPANTS ALLOWED IN THE HOMES LOCATED IN LONG BAY ESTATES?**

The Circuit Court's Order of Dismissal dated June 22, 2016, states, "I conclude as a matter of law the zoning ordinance upon which the plaintiff relies restricts construction in Long Bay Estates to single-family homes or duplex dwellings, neither of which restrict short-term rental or the number of occupants." (R. pp. 3-5).

This statement by the Court is not supported by the allegations contained in the Appellant's Complaint. As alleged in paragraph 9 of the Complaint (R. p. 12), in accordance with Article IV Section 431 of the Horry County Zoning Ordinance family is defined as "an individual or two or more persons related by blood, marriage or adoption living together as a single household unit, or, a group of not more than 5 persons not related by blood, marriage, or adoption, living together as a single family household unit". This definition, contained in the Horry County Zoning Ordinance clearly provides a limit on the number of occupants per dwelling.

Respondent has raised no argument or defense that Long Bay Estates is not governed by the Horry County Zoning Ordinances contained in Appellant's Complaint. Nor have they argued that Respondent does not have the capacity or authority to enforce said ordinances.

A ruling on a 12(b)(6) S.C.R.C.P. motion to dismiss must be based solely upon the allegations set forth on the face of the complaint. The motion cannot be sustained if facts alleged and inferences reasonably deductible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory on the case. *Dye v. Gainey*, 320 S.C. 65, 463 S.E.2d 97 (Ct.App.1995).

In this case, the Court relied upon arguments made by counsel for the Respondent contrary to the Complaint in rendering its ruling. Had the Court relied upon the allegations set forth in the Complaint, as is required by law, the definition of family contained therein would be sufficient to

withstand such a ruling. Under *Dye*, a cause of action should not be struck merely because the Court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action.

**III. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING THAT APPELLANT LACKS STANDING TO BRING AN ACTION AGAINST RESPONDENT FOR ZONING VIOLATIONS WITHIN LONG BAY ESTATES BECAUSE HE DID NOT SUSTAIN AN INJURY-IN-FACT?**

The Order of Dismissal, citing *Sea Pines Ass'n for the Prot. Of Wildlife v. S.C. Dep't of Natural Res.*, 345 S.C. 594 (2001) states that Appellant lacks standing to bring this action against Respondent because Appellant has not suffered an injury-in-fact (R. p. 4). However, *Sea Pines* is referring to a plaintiff that is an association, not an individual home owner. In this case the Appellant, Robert DeCiero, is a resident of Long Bay Estates and, in that capacity, has brought this action.

Section 6-29-950 of the South Carolina Code, states in part:

In case a building, structure, or land is or is proposed to be used in violation of any ordinance adopted pursuant to this chapter, the zoning administrator or other appropriate administrative officer, municipal or county attorney, or other appropriate authority of the municipality or county *or an adjacent or neighboring property owner who would be specially damaged by the violation* may in addition to other remedies, institute injunction, mandamus, or other appropriate action or proceeding to prevent the unlawful erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration, conversion, maintenance, or use, or to correct or abate the violation, or to prevent the occupancy of the building, structure, or land.

Here, the Appellant is a neighboring property owner to those properties located within Long Bay Estates that are in violation of the specific Horry County Zoning Ordinances cited in Appellant's Complaint and, therefore, has standing to bring this action in order to correct the alleged violations.

Further, in order for an injury to be particularized, it must affect the plaintiff in a personal and individual way. *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555 (1992). Here, Appellant has

alleged personal injuries as a direct result of these violations including, but not limited to, traffic nightmares, late-night parties, congestion and excessive noise levels (R. p. 12).

When a plaintiff alleges only general grievances suffered by the public as a whole and fails to allege any particularized harm, as was the case in *Carnival Corp. v. Historic Ansonborough Ass'n*, 407 S.C. 67, 753 S.E.2d 846 (S.C. 2014), then the plaintiff lacks standing. However, in this case the Appellant is not simply making a generalized grievance suffered; he has pled in his Complaint damages particular to the residents of Long Bay Estates that do affect the public as a whole. Therefore, the Court erred in ruling Appellant lacked standing to bring this action.

## CONCLUSION