THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals  
-----

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge  
-----

Case No. 2015-CP-26-8179  
Appellate Case No. 2016-002175  
-----

Robert DeCiero,.....Appellant,

v.

Horry County, State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUN 05 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Elise F. Crosby  
Crosby Law Firm, LLC  
405 Dozier Street  
Georgetown, South Carolina  
29440  
(843) 546-3103  
Attorney for Respondent

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. **Did the circuit court err in ruling Appellant's Complaint was deficient under Rule 8(a), entitling Respondent to relief under Rule 12(b)(6)?**

Appellant's Complaint is deficient under Rule 8(a), SCRCP, and the circuit court properly so found. The Rule says a complaint "shall contain" (1) a short and plain statement of the grounds including facts and statutes, ... (2) a short and plain statement of the facts showing the pleader is entitled to relief, and (3) a prayer or demand for judgment for the relief to which he deems himself entitled." Rule 8(a), SCRCP. All three are the bare-bones requirements for a valid complaint. A Complaint fails to state a claim for relief when the requirements are not met.

Viewed even in the light most favorable to Appellant, the facts he alleged in his Complaint and inferences reasonably deducible from them do not make a case for relief. In its Order dismissing the Complaint, the circuit court referenced Appellant's allegation "*every home in Long Bay Subdivision is currently zoned as a SF6 residential district and, as such, is to be comprised of single family and duplex family dwellings.*" The court also referenced the only two zoning provisions cited in the Complaint: the §431 definition of Family and §1300, an enforcement provision, concluding: "There is no short and plain statement of the grounds or the facts showing Plaintiff is entitled to relief. There are no causes of action. Finally, there is no prayer for relief. The Complaint's deficiencies under Rule 8(a) entitle the defendant to relief under Rule 12(b)(6)." (R.p. 4).

First, under Rule 8(a) as to the grounds, there are arguably none. Appellant sued the County in a four-page complaint that cites no grounds and includes no causes of

action. To this point, Respondent craves reference to the Complaint. (R.pp. 11-14). As to the requirement he include statutes, Appellant correctly cites the Horry County definitional section for "family" but cites no application of that definition to any section of the zoning ordinance. A definition cannot be violated. The absence of a link of the definition of family to some uncited provision of the zoning ordinance related to his zoning district is fatal. The other section he references is Horry County's zoning enforcement section. (R.pp. 12-13 para. 10). Critically, however, the Complaint is devoid of any alleged statutory violation that supports enforcement. Even the use of the term "violations" is wrong. He states he is "prepared to show" there have been repeated violations and "County personnel have been aware of these violations," (R.p. 13 para. 11), but he never alleges what the violations might be, or of what section of the zoning ordinance.

Second, as to the requirement the Complaint contain a short and plain statement of facts showing he is entitled to relief, Appellant's Complaint fails again. Respondent is not arguing Appellant does not cite facts. To the contrary: the Complaint is filled with "facts," such as allegations the subdivision was once sleepy, that it has many retirees, that the Independent Republic of Horry County has a long, great standing as a body politic and a council-manager government, and that scores of owners support Appellant.<sup>8</sup> (R.pp. 11-12, para. 3, 4, 6, 8). Giving his pleading every benefit of the doubt, distilling it to the facts most likely to be related to some non-existent grounds or cause of action, he states "property owners have constructed larger homes and began [sic] to rent on a weekly basis to large numbers of individuals..." and that this is "clear." (R.p. 12, para. 7, 9). Because of the failure of the first requirement-- that Appellant cited no

---

<sup>8</sup> Although none have joined or been identified in this action

ordinance he alleges is violated by the weekly rentals (and there is no such ordinance)—this alleged fact is unrelated to any relief sought.

Lastly, Appellant's Complaint makes no prayer or demand for relief. Again, there are no causes of action. He does not seek a writ or declaratory judgment, and this was not a zoning appeal.<sup>9</sup> The Complaint is not for injunction. The last paragraph could be construed as seeking relief, but it has no basis; It is a non-sequitur, as it merely "seeks enforcement" by Horry County of its enforcement ordinance, §1300. (R.p. 14, para. 15).

The appropriate remedy for a deficient pleading is dismissal. As cited by the circuit court in its July 19, 2016, Order, (R.p. 3), Plaintiff's Complaint fails to allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. Under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, a Complaint will be dismissed if it fails "to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action." Carnival Corp. v. Historic Ansonborough Ass'n, 407 S.C. 67, 753 S.E.2d 846 (S.C. 2014.) In considering a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), a court must base its ruling solely on the allegations set forth in the complaint. *Id.*, citing Doe v. Marion, 373 S.C. 390, 645 S.E.2d 245 (2007).

Because the Complaint fails to meet the requirements of Rule 8(a), SCRCP, it fails to state a claim for relief. Respondent properly pled this defense in its Answer, R.p. 15, and asserted it by motion under Rule 12(b), SCRCP. The circuit court heard the motion and properly dismissed the Complaint.

**II. Did the circuit court err in concluding the applicable Horry County zoning district SF6 restricts the types of dwellings that may be constructed, not whether they may be rented or to whom?**

While the court addressed the would-be applicable construction standard subsections for SF6 and the absence of a restriction on short-term rental and

<sup>9</sup> Respondent raised the defense of Failure to Exhaust Administrative Remedies

occupancy in those sections of the Horry County zoning ordinance, its conclusion was correct but not necessary for its decision because the court decided the case on the pleadings, which *did not cite those subsections*.

The court's order addressed the two sections of the zoning ordinance cited in the Complaint: the definition of family (§431) and the enforcement provision (§1300). In citing both, the court correctly concluded Appellant had not made a statement of the grounds showing he was entitled to relief, nor did he raise any causes of action. (R.p. 4).

In its order, the court also concluded. "as a matter of law the zoning ordinance upon which the plaintiff relies restricts construction in Long Bay Estates to single family homes or duplex dwellings, neither of which restricts short-term rental or the number of occupants." (R.p. 4). This conclusion was relayed to counsel in the court's letter regarding its decision on the motion, which had been taken under advisement. (R.pp. 88-89). It is factually correct that the Horry County zoning ordinance restricts construction in SF6 (Long Bay Estates' district) to single family homes and duplexes, and building permits require compliance with single-family or duplex construction standards. §§430.1, 430.2, 707, 707.1, 707.2, Horry County Zoning Ordinance. (See p. 3, *supra*.) It is also factually correct that Horry County has not regulated short term rental. (R.pp. 70 para. 10; p. 71 para. 14-15; p. 72 para. 21, 24). Horry County addressed occupancy in its zoning ordinance in Occupancy of Dwelling Units in the Coastal Carolina University Neighborhood Overlay Zone.<sup>10</sup> The phrase "the zoning ordinance upon which the plaintiff relies" might arguably refer either to the sections of the zoning ordinance that do apply to SF6, or just to the sections Appellant cited, but

---

<sup>10</sup> §723.13(E) Horry County Zoning Ordinance, not presented to the circuit court.

inexplicably Appellant did not cite the section(s) that included standards for his zoning district. The court's correct conclusion may not be relevant to dismissal on the pleadings because Appellant did not cite those sections.

At the hearing, the court queried Appellant's counsel on construction versus occupancy:

The Court: "So you disagree that the ordinance when it says single family and duplex that that deals only with the construction and not—and does not—so you're saying it only limits two, two families in a home."

Mr. Brittain: "That's right..."<sup>11</sup>

The Court: "So what is the exception for a vacation where you invite your son, daughter, parents, let's get to our house for Christmas?..."

Mr. Brittain: "...What distinguishes that from this is that's not a commercial enterprise..."

The Court: "Well where does the ordinance say a commercial enterprise?" (R.p. 43, lines 20-25; R.p. 44 lines 1-6.)

Respondent submits even though Appellant did not cite any zoning sections regarding the permitted structures in his Complaint, the court reached a legally and factually correct conclusion regarding the Horry County Zoning Ordinance provisions, and included it in its order. The Horry County Council has elected not to regulate short-term rental, a decision squarely within its province. "The governing body of a...county may adopt a zoning ordinance... [creating] zoning districts of such number, shape, and size as the governing authority determines to be best suited to carry out the purposes of this chapter." §6-29-720, S.C. Code. The determination of legislative intent is a matter of law. Charleston County Parks and Recreation Common v. Somers, 319 S.C. 65, 67, 459 S.E.2d 841 (1995.)

---

<sup>11</sup> That's wrong.

Lastly, in response to Appellant's citation of Dye v. Gainey, 320 S.C. 65, 463 S.E.2d 97 (Ct.App. 1995) for the proposition that a cause of action should not be struck merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail, (Brief of Appellant, 12), Respondent submits that, while that is a correct statement of law, Appellant identified no causes of action at all, so there are none on which to prevail. (see argument I, *supra*.)

### III. Did the circuit court err in finding Appellant lacked standing?

The court properly concluded Appellant failed to establish standing because he failed to plead a particularized injury. (R.p. 5). "A fundamental prerequisite to institute an action is the requirement that the plaintiff have standing." Joseph v. S.C. Dep't of Labor, Licensing, & Regulation, 417 S.C. 436, 790 S.E.2d 763 (2016.) The United States Supreme Court set forth the "irreducible constitutional minimum of standing," which has three elements: (1) the plaintiff must have suffered an injury in fact; (2) there must be a causal connection between the injury and the conduct complained of; and (3) it must be likely, as opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision. Joseph at 449; Sea Pines Ass'n for Prot. of Wildlife, Inc., 345 S.C. 594, 601, 550 S.E.2d 287, 291 (2001) (quoting Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 559-61 (1992)). A party seeking to establish standing carries the burden of demonstrating each element. *Id.*

For a plaintiff to possess standing in South Carolina, all three elements must be satisfied. First, he must have suffered an injury-in-fact which is a concrete, particularized, and an actual or imminent invasion of a legally protected interest. Second, a causal connection must exist between his injury and the challenged conduct. Third, it must be likely that a favorable decision will redress his injury. Carnival Corp.,

citing Sea Pines. The Court in Carnival, in its original jurisdiction, dismissed a nuisance-related Complaint on the grounds of lack of plaintiffs' standing under the three-pronged test. *Id.* at 850.

First, Appellant alleges no injuries particular to him. Standing is "a personal stake in the subject matter of a lawsuit." Joseph, *supra*. citing Sea Pines at 600. A specially-damaged adjacent or neighboring property owner may seek a remedy for a zoning violation. §6-29-950, S.C. Code. The special damage requirement "incorporates the particularized injury requirement of general standing doctrine as a requirement." R.pp. 4-5, citing Carnival at 852.) The Complaint does not cite §6-29-950 nor seek a remedy under it, but Appellant now alleges on appeal he "is a neighboring property owner." (Brief of Appellant at 13.) His Complaint did not establish that. He alleged only that he is a "resident" of Long Bay Estates and does not allege proximity to any particular properties. (R.p. 11 para. 1). This is analogous to the plaintiffs in Carnival, residents of the Ansonborough neighborhood on peninsular Charleston who complained of a host of negative effects of cruise ships, and whose case was dismissed on the pleadings for lack of standing. While that case was not brought by individuals, the Court recognized no distinction between an organization and an individual so long as "one or more of its members will suffer an individual injury..." Carnival at 850. However, like Appellant, the Ansonborough neighbors alleged only that they were residents—not property owners. In its analysis of §6-29-950, S.C. Code, the Court held "Section 6-29-950 only permits "an adjacent or neighboring *property owner*" to bring suit. Here, Plaintiffs have made no allegations that they own adjacent or neighboring property." *Id.* at 852. Appellant alleges

“nuisance to the homeowners in the area...” (R.p. 12, para. 9.) (emphasis added.) But, he failed to allege he is one. Consequently he lacks standing under §6-29-950.

Even in the light most favorable to Appellant, his factual allegations do not come close to supporting a particularized injury to him. The sum totals of his complaints are the “increasing impact on the neighborhood” of traffic, noise, and trash. (R.p. 12, para. 7-8, emphasis added.) These types of issues with neighbors would not be brought against the government in circuit court except under limited circumstances contemplated by §6-29-950 not present here, but even if he had standing under the statute, Appellant’s allegations do not support standing under the law. His complaints are a smidgen of what Ansonborough residents claimed in Carnival, where the Supreme Court found increased congestion, large crowds, visual blight, noise pollution, air pollution, road closings, “major traffic congestion”<sup>12</sup> and a host of other horrors would not support standing:

“Lacking from these allegations is any claim that Plaintiffs themselves...have suffered a particularized harm. All members of the public suffer from and are inconvenienced by traffic congestion, pollution, noises, and obstructed views, and Plaintiffs have not alleged they suffer these harms in any personal, individual way. In short, these allegations are simply complaints about inconveniences suffered broadly by all persons residing in or passing through the [neighborhood] and therefore, Plaintiffs fail to establish the first element of standing.” *Id.* at 852.

In order for an injury to be particularized, it must affect the plaintiff in a personal way. Carnival at 851. The circuit court reviewed the pleadings in this case, cited the statutory and caselaw, and concluded “the Complaint alleges no injuries particular to the plaintiff. I find as a matter of law the plaintiff fails to allege a particularized injury and therefore fails to establish standing.” (R.p. 5). Because Appellant’s allegations of issues

---

<sup>12</sup> *Id.* at 849

in the neighborhood do not rise to the level of personal harm required for standing, the court properly dismissed the Complaint.

The second element for standing is a causal connection to the claimant's injury. In this case, the Appellant's Complaint contains no causes of action, challenges no conduct, and cites no injury—at least no particularized injury that could survive a standing challenge. Similarly to the Ansonborough neighbors, he alleges impacts to the neighborhood in general, “only generalized grievances...and fail[ing] to allege any particularized harm.” Carnival at 582.

The third element of standing requires a favorable decision be likely to redress the individual's injury. Arguably, because of the failure of the first two elements, the third need not be reached. Appellant cites no personal injury, alleges no causation, and no “favorable decision” can redress any injury. However, even in the light most favorable to him, there is no zoning section pled in his Complaint to be enforced. He does not cite a noise ordinance, or a traffic ordinance, or a trash ordinance and, as argued in I, *supra.*, the Horry County Zoning Ordinance does not contain the provisions he wishes it to, and the sections cited by him do not support any remedy under law.